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Memo to file
December 30, 2003

From: Peter E. Kurtze
Administrator, Evaluation and Registration

Re:  M:26-21-6
Congressional Shopping Plaza

The property documented in the following Addendum Sheet has not been formally
evaluated for eligibility for listing in the National Register of Historic Places. The
comments in the text are those of the preparer of the documentation. The State Historic
Preservation Officer has neither concurred nor disagreed with those comments.




MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST ADDENDUM SHEET Property Name: Congressional Shopping Plaza
Montgomery-Prince George’s Short-term Congestion Relief Survey No.: M:26-21-6

Property Address_West side of Rockville Pike (MD 355), 1601 Block, Rockville, Montgomery County
Owner Name/Address_Federal Realty Investment Trust / 5454 Wisconsin Avenue #110, Chevy Chase, MD 20815
Year Built_circa 1930, 1959

Description:

The Congressional Shopping Plaza was previously surveyed by Peerless Rockville in 1986. Since the prior survey the
shopping center has been remodeled. Circa 1995, the fieldstone facing and flat roofs of the structure were replaced with
various exterior siding materials, including stone, brick and wood. The flat roofs were altered with front-gable and shed roof
false-front and towers with standing-seam metal roofs. The fieldstone columns supporting the pedestrian canopy has been
replaced with stone and brick piers and wood doric columns. The anchor store of J.C. Penny’s has been displaced by
smaller anchors stores, including Fresh Fields (a grocery store), Tower Records, The Container Store and Buy Buy Baby.
Portions of the original basket-weave pattern brick work are visible on the rear elevation.

The Congressional Shopping Plaza South, constructed circa 1930, has not been altered since the previous survey.

National Register Evaluation:

Constructed circa 1930 and in 1959 the Congressional Shopping Plaza is not eligible for the National Register of Historic
Places. The property is not eligible under Criterion A, as research conducted indicates no association with any historic events
or trends significant in the development of national, state, or local history. Historic research indicates that the property has
no association with persons who have made specific contributions to history, and therefore, it does not meet Criterion B.
It is not eligible under Criterion C, due to a lack of architectural and material integrity. Extensive remodeling of the
Congressional Shopping Plaza structure has removed nearly all original building fabric. The property is no longer
representative of mid-twentieth century commercial architecture. Finally, the structure has no known potential to yield
77 important information, and therefore, is not eligible under Criterion D.

MHT CONCURRENCE:
Eligibility recommended not recommended
Criteria A B C D Considerations A B C D E F G None
Comments:
Reviewer, Office of Preservation Services  Date Reviewer, NR program Date
o
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P.A.C. Spero & Company
May 1998
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Site: M:26/21/6

Congressional Airport Established: 1929
Congressional Plaza Built: 1958
Private Architect:

Retail Commercial

Site of the Congressional Airport and Flying School from 1929 to 1958,
the Congressional shopping center was contructed by Arthur C. Hyde in
respoﬁse to the boom in population and housing construction in
Rockville after World War II. One of the first retail developments of
its size and kind in Montgomery County, Congressional Plaza is an L-
shaped one-story brick strip of shops with a front pedestrian arcade,
slightly taller anchor stores, and acres of surface parking.
Architectural interest is provided by flat roofs with deep overhang,
specially molded bricks used to create textural patterns, fieldstone

piers and columns, and large central glass wall.




Survey No. M:26/21/6
- - i No. / 5/ 5’35?//
Maryland Historical Trust Hasr ¥ éy/
State Historic Sites Inventory Form NR eligible D°F ye¥®S  ~Dong

contrib. element in H.D.

1. Name €¢indicate preferred name)

historic Congressional Airport/Congressional Shopping City

and/or common Congressional Plaza, Congressional North, South

2. Location

street & number West Side Of ROCkVille Pike, 1601 Block . —  not for publication

city, town Rockville ____ vicinity of congressional district

state Maryland county Montgomery (RV Planning Area 9)

- - - -

3. Classification

Category Ownership f%us_ ' Present Use

— district- blic occupied ' fgriculture —___ museum

building(s) >~ private , " ____ unoccupied ' commercial — park

— structure — both ' __work in progress _—_educational ___ private residence

—__site Public Acquisition Accessible ____entertainment — religious
- Object —inprocess ——_Jyes: restricted government ___ scientific

-— being considered iz{ yes: unrestricted —industrial —transportation
“not applicable no , military __other:

’ 4- Owner Of Property ' (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

Congressional Plaza Associates, c¢/o Federal Realty Investment Trust

name

5454 Wisconsin Ave. #110 telephone no.:

Maryland 20815

street & number

Chevy Chase

city, town state and zip code

5. Location of Legal Description

Montgomery Co. Land Records

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. ’ liber 3351
: Montgomery Co. Courthouse
street & number folio 156
Rockville Maryland
city, town ' state

6. Representation in Existing =uistorical surveys

title None

date , _federal ____state ____county ___ local

e,

»pository for survey records

city, town state




7. Description Survey No. M:26/21/6

Congition Check one W one

excellent —_ deteriorated ____ unaltered »~ original site
—good —_ruins AZ%I‘:ered —_ moved date of move
— fair — — unexposed

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its
various elements as it exists today.

The subject shopping center was originally conceived as a 30 acre
site on the west side of Rockville Pike south of Woodmont Country
Club and was to be called Congressional Shopping City. Only the
central 20.31 acres was approved. by the City of Rockville for retail
development in 1956 and later constructed. This shopping center,
the principal subject, became known as Congressional Plaza and is
bounded by Congressional (Airport) Lane to the north, Halpine Road
to the south, and East Jefferson Street to the west. (See site plan
attachment 7.3)

Congressional Plaza was one of the first retail developments of its
size and kind in Montgomery County (Silver Spring was built in the
1930s and  Wheaton Plaza ‘is contemporary to Congre531ona1) and the
first homogenous retail area built as an alternative to the
traditional downtown commercial center in Rockville. The form is
loosely analogous to the conventional town square surrounded by
parking and blocks of storefronts, .but parking now fills the
square, and one side is 1left open for access and visibility.
Congressional's initial development name, "Congressional Shopping
City", (See attachment T7.4) is perhaps an unintentional acknowledge-
ment of these competitive and architectural links. As such, it was
designed as a one-story strip of shops with a front pedestrian
arcade and a traffic pattern consisting of several proposed streets
(Halpine, Jefferson, and Bouic (which was never built). R

_Although there have been additions and enlargements, the basic form
and materials of the shopping center remain. Other changes are
largely cosmetic, not structural. A 1985 facelift visually sectioned
the uniform front by varying the roof line with the addition of
pylons supporting an extended arcade in some sections and adding
diagonally-applied wood strips to parapets, largely covering the
original brick basketweave parapet. The J.C. Penney store was given
a new roof cap and overhang which overshadows the original desigq}
contrasting monumental fieldstone piers and glass.

Congressional Plaza is part of the larger commercial strip 1lining
Rockville Pike. In the immediate area, the strip consists primarily
of free-standing one-to-three story commercial buildings on small
separate parcels with on-site surface parking. Front setbacks and
architectural styles vary widely, a product of piecemeal small
parcel development over the past 30 years. Although street trees
have been planted on the Pike, tall utility poles with grids of wire
industrialize the streetscape. New construction along the Pike is
primarily mid-rise mixed office and retail with both surface and
interior parking.

continued on attachment 7 page 1 (7.1)
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STATE HISTORIC SITES INVENTORY FORM SECTION 7 PAGE 1

Description (continued) : Congressional Plaza

The main entrance to the center is a dual-lane divided driveway from
Rockville Pike which leads to the dominant J.C, Penney building.
Other access is from Halpine Road, Congressional Lane, and East
Jefferson Street. The pPrincipal parking area is in the front but
smaller parking areas are located in the rear and along Congressio-

Although one of the three oldest commercial developments on the
Pike, (P.J. Nee, Food Fair and several country stores were already
in place) and the first of its scale, the setback is much greater
than current development, reflecting the fact that at the time of
its development, providing land for surface parking was less
expensive than garage construction.

The Plaza was built as a one-story "L"shaped strip to accommodate
approximately 40 stores, with slightly taller anchor stores. (See
1959-60 Plat of Congressional Plaza, attachment 7.5) The site
slopes to the west (rear), allowing additional exposed basement
level shops or dock access. The architecture and materials are
typically mid-fifties, in this case a commercial adaptation of a
popularized architecture derived from Frank Lloyd Wright's early
20th century philosophy of organic structures. Wright's designs
featured strong horizontals and landscape-related design, native
materials and glass walls used as an architectural element to blurr
the distinction between interior and exterior. Other Wright features
are the flat roof with deep overhang and specially molded bricks
used to create textural patterns. (See photo, attachment 7.6)

The Plaza's basic structure is brick with fieldstone facing and a
flat roof. Brick molded with a center depression is used in a
basketweave pattern on the parapet and exterior side and rear walls
to add textural interest, another feature pioneered by Wright and
yet visible on the building's rear facade, interior ends of the ell
members, and on the parapets visible behind the new arcade. The J.C.
Penney store is closest to a commnercial adaptation of Wright's work
in its two-story front glass wall with (original) deep overhang
forming a canopy supported by monumental fieldstone columns. The
fieldstone piers which frame the glass wall wrap into the interior
of the building, blending exterior and interior space.

Parking was a problem from the start. "Parking for 4000 cars" was a
pPre-construction selling feature on the Congressional Shopping City
stationary, but the parking was predicated on undersized (8.5 X 18
feet when the average fifties car was 7.5 feet wide) spaces and
access lanes. Negotiations with the Rockville Planning Commission
and Board of Appeals resulted in 9.0 x 20 ft. parking spaces and 23
foot lanes, providing approximately 1600 spaces front and rear. By
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MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST SURVEY NO. M:26/21/6
STATE HISTORIC SITES INVENTORY FORM SECTION 7 PAGE 2

Description (continued) : Congressional Plaza

October of 1959, the City Department of Licenses and Inspection
refused to grant further occupancy permits due to substandard
parking and signage exceeding City regulations., The Plaza pur-
chased an additional three acres between it and the relocated
Jefferson Street (which originally was to have been directly behind
the center following the rear property line of Congressional south)
and redesigned its parking areas.

The area known as Congressional South contained the Congressional
Aeronautic School. (See 1953 Plat of Arthur C. Hyde's Congressional
Airport Property, attachment 7.7 and photographs, attachment 7.8)
Although the buildings and hangar shown on the plat and in
photographs were reused after the construction of Congressional
Plaza, only one remains on site in any form. The building
containing units 1 through 9 on the plat has been incorporated into
the south retail portion,and a facade addition was applied to square
the building with the parking lot and to wunite several separate

structures. The brick maintenance and shop building, wunits A
through Q-2 on the plat, was demolished in 1986 to permit Hotel
development on the site. The administration building and hangar

functioned as the Congressional Roller Arena until it was demolished
in 1984. Congressional South was not developed as one homogenous
center as was the Plaza; rather it was developed store by store with
the overall design originally intended to follow the lead of the
Colonial A&P store. The present 1980 "L"-shaped strip incorporates
nine separate buildings visually unified by color, canopies, and
sidewalk treatment.

The area known as Congressional North had several individually-owned
structures shown on the 1953 Airport Plat. One of these, the Womak
building at 131 Congressional Lane, retains its "hangar" configura-
tion at the rear: an industrial building with a low-arched roof and

industrial metal frame casement windows on the side. It has a
front section Ffaced with fieldstone to correspond to the Plaza
buildings. The remainder of Congressional North has been developed

in recent years.

The Congressional centers, north and south, and the plaza all
have separate commercial buildings fronting on Rockville Pike. The
Plaza's front buildings are accessed only from the plaza interior,
but Congressional North and South have front parking and access
directly from the Pike. The 1953 Airport Plat shows that
Congressional North had several parcels fronting on the Pike before
1956, and Congressional South had the Esso Station and a laundry to
establish curb cuts before 1956, Exterior stairs provide for
pedestrian traffic from the upper and lower stores and  parking
lots.
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Description (continued) : Congressional Plaza
Site Plan, Topographical Ma
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p of Rockville 1:200, 1978

SURVEY NO. M:26/21/6
SECTION 7  PAGE 3
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Description (continued) : Congressional Plaza
Congressional Shopping City stationary, 1957

P é%ﬁWMd/ SHOPPING CITY

7/ 1703 ROCKYILLE PIKE L] CONGRESSIONAL AIRPORT -® S. ROCKVILLE, MARYLAND

ArTHUR C. HypE, Pres.
JOHN K. KILBANE, VicE-PREs.

ROCKYILLE
NORTH a=—p

- May 2, 1957
»
Mr. Robert L. Plavnick, Director
Planning Commission
City Hall
Rockville, Maryland
Dear Mr, Plavnick: . Re: Congressional Shopping City

Attached hereto is a description and plot plan, marked
Exhibits ®A" and ®Bn respectively, setting forth that portion
of a commercial development to be known as Congressional
Shopping City. The plan for this development has been approved
by the Mayor and Council of the City of Rockville, in accordance

SHOPPING with the zoning ordinance requirements.

arTy

" The description and plot plan have been attached so that
if there is any property within this area that is not classified
as commercial, then it should be done. Therefore, we respectfully
request that all of this property be re-classified so that it can
be used as a commercial development, as set forth on the plan
approved by the City of Rockville.

3000 Foot Frontage Now Being Developed

Thank you for your very considerate assistance on this

matter,

\21}’, /{/ W
JKK: rpw John K. Kilbane i
Enci., 2

Wisconsin
Avenue
Extended

vasiniit

WE BUILD AND LEASE TO SPECIFICATION
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8- Significance Survey No. M:26/21/6

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
— prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric ié?:ommunity planning ____ landscape architecture____ religion
~-_1400~1499 ____ archeology-historic —_conservation — law —_science
.1500-1599 ____ agriculture —— economics — literature — sculpture

- 1600-1699 ___ architecture — education — military — social/
—— 17001799 ____ —_engineering —music humanitarian
— )800-1899 commerce — exploration/settiement ___ philosophy — theater

\7 1900~ — communications — industry — politics/government _ transportation

1929-1958-Congressional Airport V(Iocal historgther (specity)

1958/59 Congressional Plaza
Specific dates 1930s-North & South Builder/Architect

check: Applicable Criteria: __A B wC _ D
and/or
Applicable Exception: __ A B C D E F G

Level of Significance: _ national __state g -Tocal

Prepare both a summary paragraph of significance and a geﬂeral statement of history and
support. A

' , Significance

The site of the Congressional Plaza, shopping center had three very
different uses over a 200 year period, reflecting the physical
development of this area bordering the Rockville to Georgetown
Turnpike. The area was still rural in 1929 when the Congressional
Airport and Flying School located there. The present modern
shopping center was constructed in 1959 in response to population
growth and density. Architectural elements from both the airport
era and some early 1950s buildings lay beyond the fringes of the
main Plaza complex which combines stone, brick, concrete and glass
in a modern suburban design.

ROCKVILLE HISTORIC RESOURCES MANAGEMENT PLAN DATA:

1. Historic context theme(s): Architecture, Landscape Architecture,
Community Planning , L e

2. Geographic Organization: Piedmont, Montgomery County, City of
Rockville ,

3. Chronological Period(s): Maturation and Expansion 3 1873-1931

4. Resource type: Commercial Shopping Center/ commercial  retail
buildings

History and Support

At the turn of the century the Maryland Geological Survey pronounced
the Rockville Turnpike Road "one of the worst pieces of main highway
in the state", due to its neglected, cut-over condition. 1/ The
land along the Turnpike was still farmland, as it had been for 200
years. The 236 acre Nicholas Wagner farm, purchased in 1877,
occupied part of this site and appears on the County maps and real
estate atlases from 1879 through 1917. (See 1890 map, attachment 8.4
and 1917 map, attachment 8.5) By the time of the publication of the
1917 Deets and Maddox real estate atlas, the face of Rockville Pike

continued on attachment 8 page 1 (8.1)
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Statement of Significance/ History (continued) : Congressional Plaza

had changed due to improved roads and the arrival of the electric
trolley; country houses on suburban lots and scattered subdivisions
shared road frontage with the farms.

In 1928 the Wagner heirs leased 275 acres to the Congressional
School of Aeronautics for a flying school and private airport. Some
of the Wagners kept 20 acre parcels for new homes, including S.
Peter Wagner who designed his home "Pine Haven" to resemble a lock
house on the C&0 canal. The entrance road to his home "Wagner
Lane", 1later renamed East Jefferson Street, marks the western boun- .
dary of Congressional Shopping Center. 2/

In 1929 the Wagners converted the long-term lease to a sale, deeding
269 acres of "Lake View Farm" to Arthur Hyde, President of
Congressional Airport, 1Inc. for $30,000. But the Wagners reserved
16 acres south of the "steel airplaine hangar" for commercial

development. 3/ The residents of Rockville Pike appealed to the
County Commissioners to stop encroachment of what they claimed was
“the most beautiful Pike in the county", and although the airfield

was allowed to remain on the site, no further commercial development
took place there. 4/ However, a small hotel "suitable for overnite
flyer(s)" was erected on the grounds. 5/

For the mnext 30 vyears the Hyde-owned Congressional Airport
flourished on this site. It was the only private airfield in the
County, site of flying demonstrations and races, and later the home
field of the Civil Air Patrol. 6/ The main hangar was located on
the land ( now Congressional South) retained by the Hyde family
after construction of the shopping center. The original hangar was
leased for a roller skating rink from 1956 until 1983, and was
demolished in 1984. 7/ (See article, attachment 8.11)

There were about 65 aircraft at Congressional at any given time,
many privately owned. Planes ranged from J3 cubs, Air Coupes, and
Cessnas to a two-seat Stearman used for aerobatics. The landing
area was one long grass strip with a dip in the middle, and pilots
had to fly over high-tension wires along the Pike to land. 8/

The last remaining architectural evidence of the airport wuse is
located on the other end of the shopping area in Congressional
North. Fronting on Congressional Lane between Rockville Pike and
Wagner Lane (becomes E. Jefferson Street) is a one story furniture
store building whose stone and plate glass facade matches the main
Plaza appearance. But the rear of this building has a half-cylinder
roof, topping a long cement block building with banks of multi-paned
windows lining the east side. Its original purpose is unknown, but
it has been the offices of paving contractor F.0.Day for many years.
It is now attached to an office building on its west side.
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Statement of Significance/ History (continued) : Congressional Plaza

The replacement of the Congressional Airport by a shopping - center
was in response to the boom in population and housing construction
after World War II. 'Between 1940 and 1960 there were 21,228 new
houses built in the Rockville district, many along the Rockville

Pike and Veirs Mill corridors. The old commercial district in
downtown Rockville was neglected and decaying, with some buildings
dating from the early 19th century. The concept of small scale,

well-designed retailing centers, convenient to residential neighbor-
hoods, was gaining acceptance and Congressional Plaza was one of the
first in the county. 9/ Mr. Hyde had already transferred part of
the airport property to his company, "Congressional Shopping Center,
Inc.", and in 1958 he sold twenty-some acres across from the Halpine
Store and subdivision to Congressional Plaza, Inc.

The original core of the "Plaza" shopping area can be seen on the
1959 real estate atlas (Attachment 8.5 ). Adapting the ancient
meaning of plaza as a market square/open space approached by
avenues, the buildings with the original 35 stores formed an open
faced, L-shape at the end of avenues. The open space in the fore-
court provides parking for 1,500 cars. 10/ The buildings are of
varying widths, but maintain the desired horizontal mass by their
uniform height. They are linked by a continuous canopy roof which
provides a kind of arcade and protects shoppers from the elements.
The stores' facades are ornamented by the use of irregularly coursed
fieldstone facing which outlines the plate glass display windows.
At intervals, individual rocks project outward, and engaged pilers
separate store units,

The central stores, once the main focus at the end of the entrance

avenue, has a three part composition. The central anchor, J.C.
Penney, is a story higher than surrounding stores, and is fronted by
monumental fieldstone columns;: the attached stores have smaller

fieldstone columns.

A 1985 remodeling has partially hidden the original roof and frieze

line, but parts of the original parapet can still be seen. It
carried the design found on other masonry elements, a unifying
basketweave decoration. The pattern, wutilizing a brick with a

depressed center area, 1is also used in the brickwork on large areas
of the rear (west side) elevations and decorates the upper floor
facades of the lower level stores that front on Congressional Lane.
The ground slope allows for this level of stores and also for extra
entrances and stories for the stores fronting on the Pike. The
attached copy of a Chamber of Comerce publication shows the Plaza
footprint and store occupants in 1962 (Attachment 8.10).

In the years since 1959 the Plaza area has expanded both north and
south with new clusters of buildings, but the plan and architectural
integrity of the original "Plaza" complex remains.
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Footnotes:

1. 1899 "Report on the Highways of Maryland" by the
Maryland Geological Survey quoted in McMasters and
Hiebert, Grateful Remembrance. Montgomery County 1977.

N

Montgomery County Sentinel, September 14, 1928 and
September 27, 1929 and 1963.

3. Montgomery County Land Records 492/5 (1929). In 1945
the Wagners sold another 198 acres to Hyde; most of
this site is the present apartment complex west of
Congressional Plaza.

4, Sentinel op. cit. - 1929,

5. The "hotel" building may be the two-story stone
building fronting on the north side of Congressional
Lane and occupied by Womack Exterminators since 1943,
The Veterans of Foreign Wars of U.S. , Inc. purchased 5
acres adjoining in 1949,

6. Older Rockville residents remember that radio
personality and aviator Arthur Godfrey often announced
the airplace races and demonstrations in the 1940s.

7. Washington Evening Star, May 3, 1958 and Montgomery
Journal, January 4, 1984,

8. Interview with Carl Schwab, mechanic at Congressional
Airport 1948. (1987)

9. Congressional Plaza was built concurrently with Wheaton
Plaza; they are the among the first of the regional
shopping centers constructed outside of wurban town
centers. Silver Spring was first in 1939.

10. Washington Evening Star, November 9, 1959 gave the
number of stores and parking spaces at that time.
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Statement of Significance/ History (continued) : Congressional Plaza
1890 Metropolitan Railroad Right of Way Map
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Statement of Significance/ History (continued) : Congressional Plaza
1959 Klinge

Real Estate Atlas of Montgomery County, Md.
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9. Major Bibliographical References Survey No.M:26/21/6

Montgomery County Land Records and Plats; Newspaper abstracts 1877-
1985.  "Rockville Reports" 1962-1980; Maps and real estate atlases
from Montgomery County Historical Society collection. City of
Rockville Use permit files U-2-56, U-71-62,U-72-61.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property 20+31-aeres—{original) as per Plat 65/5892 (1958).

Quadrangle name ‘ Quadrangle scale
UTM References 3o NoOT complete UTM references
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Verbal boundary description and justification

' West $ids of Réckville Pike as per plat 65/5892 (1958):

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state ; . code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

name/title

Anne Cissel Jo Christensen Arch. deseription
organization Peerless Rockville _ date October, 1986
street & number‘ P;O. Béx 142‘6;2 | | ; | - ielephone 752_0055 )
city ortown Rockville Sz‘tahé‘ Mar"yyla“n‘ck‘ik 20850

The Maryland Historic Sites Inventory was officially created by
an Act of the Maryland Legislature to be found in the Annotated
Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 1974 supplement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and
record purposes only and do not comstitute any infringement of
individual property rights.

return to: Maryland Historical Trust
Shaw House
21 State Circle -
Annapolis, Maryland 21401
(301) 269-2438
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Statement of Significance/ History (continued) Congressional Plaza
The Montgomery Journal Jan. 3, 1984 "Bulldozer rips into old rink"

R A A
; e g P
- (,,,4 Nk R
Journal photo by Mike M. Ahters

I'he bulldozer tore a huge hole in the front of the old Congressional Rolier
Skating Rink buiiding Saturday when it began demolition.

Bulldozer rips into old rink
to make way for new hotel

Bulldozers ripped into a Rockville landmark
on Saturday, beginning demolition of the old
Congressional Roller Skating Rink to make
way for a new 120-room hotel and restaurant.

The long gray building off Rockville Pike
was built in the 1940s for use as a hangar at the
old Congressional Airport, then home of one of
the largest flying schools in the country. The
airport’s landing strip is now part of the
Congressional Plaza Shopping Center.

In 1956, professional roller skaters Betty and
Louie Bargmann and June Mayo converted the
hangar into a roller rink. The Bargmann’s oper-
ated the rink until last May when they lost the
lease.

Until its closing, the rink maintained the old-

est continually operating skating club in the
nation, the Silver Roller Club, and the oldest
continuous panel of skating judges.

The rink boasted of being home to more than
half a dozen championship skaters, and of
being one of the most affordable entertainment
centers in the county. During its 26 years in
business, the admission price rose only 50
cents, from $1.50 to $2. The skate rental prices
rose from 50 cents to 75 cents.

Congressional South Associates, owner of
the property adjacent to the rink, plans to de-
velop the land. Two applications for use-per-
mits have been filed with the Rockville City
planning department, one for a 120-room hotel-
/motel and one for a restaurant and retail
shops.

JOURNAL TAUZ (IRY
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N AUGUST, 1942, all civilian
airports in the Eastern Vital De-
fense Zorte were closed by order of
the First Fighter Command. The
Congressional Airport, located six
miles beyond the District Line of

-

are several individual “T” type hang-
ars as well as a large shop building,
and a paint and dope shop. The
lean-to on the large hangar accom-
modates several offices, pilots’
lounge room, the airport grille, com-

-

hours daily operation of each plane
and the number of hours since checks
and overhaul. By this method a
daily check can easily be made. All
engines are majored as required, but
at least every 500 hours. A large
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Statement of Significance/ History (continued) : Congressional Plaza
The Evening Star March 3, 1958 "Congressional Airport Closed.
Courtesy Arthur C. Hyde

'THE EVENING STAR Washmgton Dm C. ** B-3

MONDAY WARCH 3, 1958

'son executwe secretary of the
*ivoluntary  Montgomery -County
L Airport: Committee, which has
been ‘working with -the council
Sl inean’ attempt to-find: an a1r-
»l port site.

by| Mr.. Thompson sald the loss
"" "of* bCongressxona{;l 'is  “terribly
embarrassing” to - anyone ‘in
f.aviation. An |y, ciness in Montgomery County.
€1 He- criticized..the council - for
‘what he said was a failure to
“ipush-for ‘an -airport. site and
:{said ‘the: .county - “has : been
for - blind’? to its airport needs. since
-1 Federal -aid . for  airport. con=
han sgructmn was ﬁrst oﬁered in
;11949 :

PR Vstummrrna-suncipst 2
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Statement of Significance/ History (continued) : Congressional Plaza

The Sunday Star Dec. 25, 1955 "$10 Million Trade Center Planned.
Courtesy Arthur C. Hyde

A-10 THE SUNDAY STAR, Washington, D. C.

SUNDAY, DECEMBER 285, 1986

USINESS
$|0 Million Trade Center
Planned Near Rockville

w Y By DONALD B, HADLEY

Mont.gomery County, Md., will get 2 new/$10 million shopping
center on the 50-acre site of Congressional airport along the
west side of kville Pike just south of Rockville, - '

This was disclosed yesterday with the signing .of a lease
fc~ a-Giant Pood Department Store in the center. J. C. Penney
Co, and ‘8. B, Kresge Co., also will have large stores there: ,

. ‘To be known a5 Congresslonal Shopping Center, the develop-
ment “will have space for 75|~
stores wiren completed, hetween
300,000 and 400,000 square feet
of store space and parking for
around 4,000 cars, said Arthur

‘pmg ‘Center, Inc., .came to thls

C..Hyde, owner of Congressiorial
Airport and president. of the
new company that will develop it.

Construction of the first build-
ings will start next spring or
summer, and thelr completion is
scheduled by’ Christmas of 1956.

Rinzuciot & Coupard and As-
sociates of~ Bethesda are - the
architects.. Construetion con-
tracts have not been let. 3

The Giant store, for which the
lease was signed yesterday, will
have nearly. 27,000 sgquare feet
and will be the company’s largest
on one floor. . With 6ther ne
outlets {n the planning stage, it
will rafse the store total of this
‘rapidly growing Washington
chain well into the 30s.

J. C. Penpey Co. Store
To Be. ter's-Largest

The"J. C. Penney Co. depart-
ment store, with 40,000 square
feet, will be the center’s largest
establishment. The Kresge store,
with 20,000 square feet, will be
one of the largest ouatlets of the
company in this area.

Parking for the cenjer will be
.in the foreground close to Rock-
,ville . pike, , with store buildings
“on the north, and.west. sides to
form gn L. Across the highway
,are the.p,: 3‘ ~Nee Furniture Co.
and @ Food Fair Buper Market.

Mr., Hyde, Presient of the new|.
_company, Cohgressionsl. Bhop-

e i wth“MHH'd’fd(t el e e X L]

e - zAm OO

area from ‘Moorefield, W..Vs,.,
1936 - to work ‘at lfg‘lcmzrﬁsslcmnl
Alrp W' year later he took
over ?&bmhsement and 10 years
ego becnmc its owner., He also
/gwdns “Hyde” Airport. m,cunton.]
1 . 5

John Kub:ne. vice president ot’
the new company,” was in the
real estate department of the
‘8. 8. Kresgs -Co. from 1948 until
recently, "He will be in charge of
leasing for the center,

. ANOTHER GIANT STORE—Jac Lehrman, vice,
president of Giant Food Department Stores (right).
yesterday signed a lease for a new store in a $10
million shopping center near Rockville, - “Arthur’ C!
Hyde . (left), president of Congressional ‘Shoppin
‘Center, Inc, and.Gershon Furson (center), rea
estate director for Giant, look on.—Star Staff Photo,
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Description (continued) : Congressional Plaza
Congressional Plaza Opening Day 1959
Courtesy Arthur C. Hyde
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Description (continued) : Congressional Plaza
1953 Plat of Congressional Airport
Not to Scale
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Description (continued) : Congressional Plaza

Aerial View of Rockville Pike and Congressional Airport ca. 1955
Courtesy Arthur C. Hyde
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